
“In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, if you require a disability related 
modification or accommodation to attend or participate in this meeting, including auxiliary aids or 
services, please call the City Clerk’s office at 310-952-1720 at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.” 
(Government Code Section 54954.2) 

Agenda posted - Approval of Executive Session Agenda (Closed Session) 
CALL TO ORDER: CARSON RECLAMATION AUTHORITY 

ROLL CALL: 

Executive Session (Closed Session) - Ceremonial Presentation 

CLOSED SESSION:   (NONE)gal Counsel 

Labor NegotiatorT  
ORAL COMMUNICATIONS – CLOSED SESSION ITEMS ONLY 

ANNOUNCEMENT OF CLOSED SESSION ITEMS 

RECESS INTO CLOSED SESSION 

RECONVENE:  OPEN SESSION 

REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION ACTIONS 
Flag Salute - Approval of Minutes 
Notice to the Public- - Oral 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS – MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC (LIMITED TO ONE HOUR) 

The public may address the members of the Carson Reclamation Authority on any matters within 
the jurisdiction of the Carson Reclamation Authority or on any items on the agenda of the Carson 
Reclamation Authority, other than closed session matters, prior to any action taken on the agenda.  
Speakers are limited to no more than three minutes, speaking once.  Oral communications will be 
limited to one(1) hour unless extended by order of the Chair with the approval of the Authority 
Board. 

MMUNICATIONS - MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC BUSINESS COT 

CITY OF CARSON 

RECLAMATION  AUTHORITY 

TUESDAY, JULY 5, 2016 
701 East Carson Street 

Helen Kawagoe Council Chambers 
4:30 P.M.  – Regular Session 

AGENDA 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE  
CARSON RECLAMATION AUTHORITY 



 

 

 

Carson Reclamation Authority 
PAGE 2 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES:      

 
WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 4, 2015 (ADJOURNED REGULAR) 
 
TUESDAY, DECEMBER 1, 2015  (REGULAR) 
 
TUESDAY, MAY 3, 2016  (REGULAR)          
 

CONSENT  (Items 1-4) 

These items are considered to be routine items of AUTHORITY business and have, 
therefore, been placed on the CONSENT CALENDAR.  If AUTHORITY wishes to discuss any 
item or items, then such item or items should be removed from the CONSENT CALENDAR.  
For items remaining on the CONSENT CALENDAR, a single motion to ADOPT the 
recommended action is in order. 

 
 
Item No. 1.  2016-770 CONSIDER RESOLUTION NO. 16-12-CRJPA APPROVING CLAIMS 

AND DEMANDS IN THE AMOUNT OF $396,227.01 
 
 

Recommendations:   TAKE the following actions: 

1. APPROVE Resolution No. 16-12-CRJPA, “A RESOLUTION 
OF THE CARSON RECLAMATION AUTHORITY OF THE 
CITY OF CARSON, CALIFORNIA, APPROVING CLAIMS 
AND DEMANDS IN THE AMOUNT OF $396,227.01.” 

2. AUTHORIZE the Chairman to execute the Resolution 
following approval as to form by the Authority Counsel. 

 
 

 
Item No. 2.  2016-741 CONSIDER CARSON RECLAMATION AUTHORITY MONTHLY 

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO REPORT 
 

Recommendations:   RECEIVE and FILE 
 

 
Item No. 3.  2016-772 APPROVAL OF WORK ORDER REQUESTS FROM TETRA TECH 

BY THE CARSON RECLAMATION AUTHORITY, REPLACING 
PREVIOUSLY APPROVED CHANGE ORDERS AND AUTHORIZING 
ADDITIONAL TASKS IN THE AMOUNT OF $659,381 

 
Recommendations:   APPROVE Work Order Request to approve Work Orders 34, 

35, and 40, listed and described below in the total amount of 
$659,381, which have been reviewed and approved by the 
CRA’s project manager and the environmental consultant 

 
 



 

 

 

Carson Reclamation Authority 
PAGE 3 

 
Item No. 4. 2016-773 EXCLUSIVE RIGHT TO NEGOTIATE AND A REIMBURSEMENT 

AGREEMENT WITH CAM-CARSON, LLC, A DELAWARE LIMITED 
LIABILITY CORPORATION AND AN AFFILIATED ENTITY OF 
MACERICH, FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF A FASHION OUTLET 
RETAIL CENTER ON CELL 2 OF A 157-ACRE PARCEL OWNED BY 
THE CARSON RECLAMATION AUTHORITY, THE FORMER CAL-
COMPACT LANDFILL 

 
 Recommendations:   TAKE the following actions: 

1. APPROVE the Exclusive Right to Negotiate with CAM-
CARSON, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company. 

 
2. APPROVE the Reimbursement Agreement with CAM-

CARSON, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company. 
 
3. AUTHORIZE the Chairman to execute the Agreement 

and all related documents in a form acceptable to the 
Authority Counsel.   

 

SPECIAL ORDERS OF THE DAY  (NONE) 

Public testimony is restricted to three minutes per speaker, speaking once (excepting 
applicants who are afforded a right of rebuttal, if desired), unless extended by order of the 
Chair with the approval of the Authority.  

 
 DISCUSSION 

DISCUSSION (NONE)NCE SECOND READING 

 
   

ORDINANCE SECOND READING (NONE) 

Oral Communication (Staff)  - Adjournment 
ORAL COMMUNICATIONS I (STAFF) 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS (MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC)  

The public may at this time address the members of the Carson Reclamation Authority on 
any matters within the jurisdiction of the Carson Reclamation Authority.  No action may be 
taken on non-agendized items except as authorized by law.  Speakers are requested to 
limit their comments to no more than three minutes each, speaking once. 

 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS (AUTHORITY MEMBERS) 

 

ANNOUNCEMENT OF UNFINISHED OR CONTINUED CLOSED SESSION ITEMS (AS 
NECESSARY) 

 

RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION 

 



 

 

 

Carson Reclamation Authority 
PAGE 4 

RECONVENE TO OPEN SESSION 

 

ADJOURNMENT 



CITY OF CARSON 701 East Carson Street

File #: 2016-770, Version: 1

Report to Carson Reclamation Authority
Tuesday, July 05, 2016

Consent

SUBJECT:

CONSIDER RESOLUTION NO. 16-12-CRJPA APPROVING CLAIMS AND DEMANDS IN
THE AMOUNT OF $396,227.01

I. SUMMARY

This action approves invoices in the amount of $396,227.01 submitted for work
pursuant to contracts and agreements previously approved by the Carson
Reclamation Authority (CRA) Board.

II. RECOMMENDATION

TAKE the following actions:

1. APPROVE Resolution No. 16-12-CRJPA, “A RESOLUTION OF THE CARSON
RECLAMATION AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF CARSON, CALIFORNIA,
APPROVING CLAIMS AND DEMANDS IN THE AMOUNT OF $396,227.01.”

2. AUTHORIZE the Chairman to execute the Resolution following approval as to
form by the Authority Counsel.

III. ALTERNATIVES

1. TAKE another action the Authority deems appropriate.

1.

IV. BACKGROUND

Since May, 2015 the CRA Board has taken a number of actions to move the
remediation of the former Cal-Compact Landfill project forward and to create

CITY OF CARSON Printed on 6/30/2016Page 1 of 2

powered by Legistar™

http://www.legistar.com/


File #: 2016-770, Version: 1

remediation of the former Cal-Compact Landfill project forward and to create
systems that allow the review and approval of the work undertaken by the
remediation contractor, Tetra Tech, and other contractors and consultants in a fair
but transparent manner.

This action includes the approval of a Claims and Demands Resolution approving
several Tetra Tech invoices (payment request nos. 145-158), which have been
reviewed and approved by the CRA’s Project Manager (SEG Advisors) and
Environmental Services Advisor (SCS Engineers), prior to staff approval. It also
approves a payment to the City of Carson for CRA Project Management and
visioning consultant PlaceWorks,as well.

V. FISCAL IMPACT

The total expenditure in this period is $396,227.01.

VI. EXHIBITS

1. Resolution No. 16-12-CRJPA.  (pgs. 3-4)

Prepared by: John Raymond, Community Development Director

CITY OF CARSON Printed on 6/30/2016Page 2 of 2

powered by Legistar™

http://www.legistar.com/


February 7, 2012  

 

EXHIBIT NO. 1                                                  3 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 16-12-CRJPA 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 16-12-CRJPA, A RESOLUTION OF THE CARSON RECLAMATION 

AUTHORITY RATIFYING CLAIMS AND DEMANDS IN THE AMOUNT OF $396,227.01  

 

 

THE CARSON RECLAMATION AUTHORITY DOES HEREBY RESOLVE, DETERMINE 

AND ORDER AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 Section 1: The following claims and demands have been audited as required by law and 

are hereby ratified in the amount hereinafter set forth: 

 

Payee 
Name 

Payment 
Number Purpose 

Invoice 
Number 

Payment 
Amount 

Tetra Tech 146 COR 209:  Storm Water Pollution Pre 51046299 $9,886.41 

Tetra Tech 147 WO18:  Evaluate & Design 51046301 $8,282.57 

Tetra Tech 148 WO25:  CRA Project Management 51045304 $63,913.66 

Tetra Tech 149 WO21:  Site Security & Maintenance 51046715 $60,486.00 

Tetra Tech 150 WO19:  Perimeter Air Monitoring 510467056 $41,828.06 

Tetra Tech 151 WO20:  Vector Control 51046713 $4,761.93 

Tetra Tech 152 WO22:  Watering Prescriptive Cover 51046739 $9,793.47 

Tetra Tech 153 WO24:  LFGETS OM&M 51046752 $69,053.91 

Tetra Tech 154 WO16:  Import of Fill & Stockpiling 51046768 $56,585.82 

Tetra Tech 155 WO17:  Interim Air Intrusion Controls 51046774 $206.92 

Tetra Tech 156 WO23:  Maintain Storage Yard 51047698 $940.72 

Tetra Tech 157 WO27:  SWPP Implementation 51047702 $41,705.43 

Tetra Tech 158 WO28:  Support & Coordinate Design 51047704 $6,319.53 

Total Tetra Tech $373,764.43 

City of Carson CRA Project Management $13,539.82 

PlaceWorks Visioning Consultant $8,922.76 

Total Other Invoices $22,462.58 

TOTAL OF ALL INVOICES $396,227.01 

 

On July 5, 2016, the Carson Reclamation Authority ratified the above Demands and the City 

Treasurer is hereby directed by pay, out of the funds named hereon, to each of the Claimants 

listed above, the amount of warrant appearing opposite their respective names, for the purpose 

stated on the respective demands, making a total of $396,227.01.  
 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 5
th

 day of July, 2016. 

 

 

mailto:gmurillo@carson.ca.us?subject=Resolution


 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 16-12-CRJPA 

PAGE 2 OF 2 

4 

 

 

CARSON RECLAMATION AUTHORITY, a 

public body 

By: ___________________________________ 

Chairman Albert Robles 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________ 

Deputy Secretary Joy Simarago 
 
 
 

 

 

 

C E R T I F I C A T I O N 

 

In accordance with Section 37.202 of the California Government Code, I hereby certify 

that the above demands are accurate and that funds are available for payment thereof. I certify 

under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 

 

 

 EXECUTED THE  _________________ DAY OF 

 

 _______________ AT CARSON, CALIFORNIA 

 

 

 __________________________________________ 

 DEPUTY SECRETARY  

 JOY SIMARAGO 
 



CITY OF CARSON 701 East Carson Street

File #: 2016-741, Version: 1

Report to Carson Reclamation Authority
Tuesday, July 05, 2016

Consent

SUBJECT:

CONSIDER CARSON RECLAMATION AUTHORITY MONTHLY INVESTMENT
PORTFOLIO REPORT

I. SUMMARY

For review is the Carson Reclamation Authority Investment Portfolio detailing assets held in
compliance with the Reclamation Authority Investment Policy and Bond Indenture. As of this
writing, the total invested assets for the Reclamation Authority is $44,301,746.11. During the
month of June two CD’s matured with a total value of $4 million dollars. Two million was re-
invested in 1 year CDs while the remaining two million were placed in a money market
account for upcoming CRA expenses. Cash Assets held in the Authority demand account is
$1,088,089.38. Total assets for the Carson Reclamation Authority are $45,389,835.38. The
current rate of return is .871%.

II. RECOMMENDATION

Receive and File

III. ALTERNATIVES

None

IV. BACKGROUND

The Carson Reclamation Authority Investment Report is provided to the legislative body to
keep the body abreast of the Reclamation Authority reserve and active funds. This report is
provided monthly to enhance transparency and accountability of Reclamation Authority Bonds
funds. Currently all idle bond funds are invested as outlined in the Investment policy,
government code and bond indenture.

CITY OF CARSON Printed on 6/30/2016Page 1 of 2

powered by Legistar™

http://www.legistar.com/


File #: 2016-741, Version: 1

V. FISCAL IMPACT

None

VI. EXHIBITS

Exhibit 1 pg.3 through 6

Prepared by: Monica Cooper- Carson Reclamation Authority Treasurer

CITY OF CARSON Printed on 6/30/2016Page 2 of 2

powered by Legistar™

http://www.legistar.com/










CITY OF CARSON 701 East Carson Street

File #: 2016-772, Version: 1

Report to Carson Reclamation Authority
Tuesday, July 05, 2016

Consent

SUBJECT:

APPROVAL OF WORK ORDER REQUESTS FROM TETRA TECH BY THE CARSON
RECLAMATION AUTHORITY, REPLACING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED CHANGE
ORDERS AND AUTHORIZING ADDITIONAL TASKS IN THE AMOUNT OF $659,381

I. SUMMARY

These work orders requested by Tetra Tech replace several Change Orders that have
been approved by the Carson Reclamation Authority (“CRA” or “Authority”) since July,
2015, and establish the work program for the remediation and infrastructure on the 157-
acre site through the end of the fiscal year. In January, 2016 the CRA approved a series of
“Work Orders” which replaced existing Change Orders for contracting and billing purposes.
Several previously approved change orders remain in place, and there were Work Order
requests for new tasks as well.  These items are recommended for approval.

II. RECOMMENDATION

APPROVE Work Order Request to approve Work Orders 34, 35, and 40, listed and
described below in the total amount of $659,381, which have been reviewed and approved
by the CRA’s project manager and the environmental consultant.

III. ALTERNATIVES

TAKE another action the Reclamation Authority deems appropriate.

IV. BACKGROUND

Pursuant to Sections 4.a. and 4.b. and Section 8 of a Settlement, Release and Indemnity
Agreement (“Agreement”) by and between the City of Carson (“City”), the Carson
Reclamation Authority (“Authority”), the Successor Agency to the Carson Redevelopment
Agency (“Successor Agency”), and Carson Marketplace, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
corporation (“CM”), “Assignment and Assumption of Obligations” and “Remediation Work”,
the Authority assumed the obligation to continue the remediation of the 157-acre project

CITY OF CARSON Printed on 6/30/2016Page 1 of 3

powered by Legistar™

http://www.legistar.com/


File #: 2016-772, Version: 1

the Authority assumed the obligation to continue the remediation of the 157-acre project
site under a Fixed Price Operations and Maintenance Environmental Assurance
Agreement (“EAA”) dated December 31, 2007 with Tetra Tech, Inc.

The contract issued under the original EAA with Carson Marketplace is the baseline scope
of work. Direct remediation construction costs under the original EAA are paid through a
Trust Account held with Wells Fargo Bank. Work beyond the original scope is considered
a “Change Order” and subject to the review and approval of the CRA Board. The CRA’s
Change Order approval process commenced after it took title to the Property on May 18,
2015. Since October, 2015, Change Orders have been referred to as Work Orders, as
they generally reflect new scopes of work.

The following Work Order Requests are recommended for approval:

Work Order # Description Requested
Amount

34 Perimeter Monitoring $268,671

35 Vector Control 39,035

40 Soil/Fill and Stockpiling 361,675

Total $659,381

Work Order requests 34 and 35 were not submitted to the CRA in time to be reviewed at
the June 8 meeting. Work Order 40 was submitted in June. The Descriptions of the Work
Order requests are as follows:

Work Order 34. This Work Order reimburses Tetra Tech for continued perimeter
monitoring is required and covers 6 months commencing July 01, 2016 through December
31, 2016. Tetra Tech's previous work order requests and payments for this work through
June 30, 2016 are covered under WO-19. The existing perimeter monitoring program is a
requirement of the Project Environmental Impact Report (EIR), a general regulatory
requirement, and a requirement of several Project plans and permits. This WO request
assumes that monitoring will continue at the existing level of effort and scope of work being
currently utilized, including the reduction in monitoring stations and sampling frequency
that was approved by DTSC in 2010.

Work Order 35. This Work Order reimburses Tetra Tech for continued implementation of
required vector control activities and covers 6 months of continued vector control activities
commencing July 1, 2016 and running through December 31, 2016. Vector control
activities were initially implemented in response to a DTSC requirement to protect the
installed clay cover and liner during the extension of the project development schedule by
Carson Marketplace (previous owner), and now CRA (current owner). With the already
completed and continuing vector control treatments at the site, the gopher and ground
squirrel populations have been reduced at the site to a manageable level. However, due to
the large size of the site, its current undeveloped condition, and the inability to prevent
gophers and squirrels from continuing to enter the site from surrounding properties,
continued vector control is necessary to protect the installed landfill clay cover and liner

CITY OF CARSON Printed on 6/30/2016Page 2 of 3

powered by Legistar™

http://www.legistar.com/


File #: 2016-772, Version: 1

continued vector control is necessary to protect the installed landfill clay cover and liner
and perimeter prescriptive clay cap. Current vector control work through June 30, 2016
was completed under WO-20, approved by the CRA.

Work Order 40. This Work Order (WO) request is for import of soil/fill from outside sources
and stockpiling this material on site to be used as the protection layer for the landfill cap.
Based on the available aerial topographic surveys and the current development plan SP-
43, the site will require more fill than what was contemplated for the original development
plan SP-33 for providing liner foundation, complete protective cover of the liner in the
landfill cap areas, and to reach development final grade. Fill estimates based on the SP-
43 site grading plans indicate that over 100,000 cubic yards of imported fill is needed to
achieve the SP-43 grade. However, if a final development plan based on an outlet mall in
Cell 2 is selected (which is not contemplated in SP-43), the site could be short as much as
200,000 cubic yards. The CRA derives a large cost savings by having Tetra Tech accept
free fill as it is available, as opposed to the future developer having to pay for imported fill
to satisfy a tight future development schedule. In response, the CRA approved WO-16 in
October 2015, under which Tetra Tech will manage the importation of approximately
40,000 to 45,000 cubic yards of fill soil from outside sources and stockpiled the fill on site.
The budget for WO-16 was exhausted by June 2016 and needs additional funds to
continue importing another 45,000 to 50,000 cubic yards. Tetra Tech submitted this new
WO-40 to import and stockpile up to 50,000 cubic yards from outside sources, as
requested by the CRA. This WO-40 includes the cost for managing the import of the landfill
cap soil, soil testing of off-site sources, grading of stockpiles, and SWPPP implementation
for the stockpiles. It is assumed that the providers of the approved soil/fill to be imported
will provide all loading at the source and transportation to the site. This estimate also
includes the assumption that the providers of the approved soil/fill may charge up to
$1/cubic yard for the material, although this will depend on the changing supply and
demand for fill.

V. FISCAL IMPACT

These Work Orders are for the period from July 31, 2016 to December 31, 2016 and are
budgeted in the 2016-2017 CRA budget.

VI. EXHIBITS

None.

Prepared by: John S. Raymond, CRA Executive Director

CITY OF CARSON Printed on 6/30/2016Page 3 of 3

powered by Legistar™

http://www.legistar.com/


CITY OF CARSON 701 East Carson Street

File #: 2016-773, Version: 1

Report to Carson Reclamation Authority
Tuesday, July 05, 2016

Discussion

SUBJECT:

EXCLUSIVE RIGHT TO NEGOTIATE AND A REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT WITH
CAM-CARSON, LLC, A DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY CORPORATION AND AN
AFFILIATED ENTITY OF MACERICH, FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF A FASHION
OUTLET RETAIL CENTER ON CELL 2 OF A 157-ACRE PARCEL OWNED BY THE
CARSON RECLAMATION AUTHORITY, THE FORMER CAL-COMPACT LANDFILL

I. SUMMARY

The Authority is being asked to consider entering into an Exclusive Right to Negotiate and
a Reimbursement Agreement (collectively, the “Agreement”) by and between the City of
Carson; the Carson Reclamation Authority (“Authority”), a joint powers authority; and, CAM
-CARSON, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Developer”), an entity of Macerich
of Santa Monica, California, for the development of a high end fashion outlet mall on a
portion of the property.

II. RECOMMENDATION

TAKE the following actions:

1. APPROVE the Exclusive Right to Negotiate with CAM-CARSON, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company.

2. APPROVE the Reimbursement Agreement with CAM-CARSON, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company.

3. AUTHORIZE the Chairman to execute the Agreement and all related documents in a
form acceptable to the Authority Counsel.

III. ALTERNATIVES

1. TAKE another action the City Council deems appropriate.

CITY OF CARSON Printed on 6/30/2016Page 1 of 6

powered by Legistar™

http://www.legistar.com/


File #: 2016-773, Version: 1

1.

IV. BACKGROUND

The 157-Acre Property

On May 18, 2015, the Authority acquired approximately 157 gross acres of real property in
the City of Carson, as shown on the Site Map attached hereto as Exhibit “A” of the
Agreement (the “Property”). The Property is divided into five (5) Cells as shown on Exhibit
“A” and is subject to The Boulevards at South Bay Specific Plan, approved on February 8,
2006, and amended on April 5, 2011 (the “Specific Plan”). The Property is a former landfill
site, and on October 25, 1995, the California Department of Toxic Substances Control
(“DTSC”) approved a Remedial Action Plan (“RAP”) for portions of the Property, which
RAP requires the installation, operation and maintenance of certain remedial systems,
including a landfill cap, gas extraction and treatment system, and groundwater collection
and treatment system on the Property (“Remedial Systems”).

The Property is the largest tract of undeveloped property in the City, and represents
significant potential for public benefit through appropriate development. The development
of the Project will provide the economic opportunity to finally remediate the Property some
50 years after closure of the landfill, and finally carry out the purposes of the DTSC
Consent Decree and Remedial Action Plan (RAP). Moreover, the Property is currently
underutilized, falling substantially short of its commercial, revenue-generating and job-
generating potential.

The Property has been vertically subdivided into a surface lot (the “Surface Lot”) and a
subsurface lot (the “Subsurface Lot”), which lots are referenced on Exhibit “B” of the
Agreement as Parcels 1 (Subsurface Lot) and 2 (Surface Lot) of Parcel Map No. 70372.
The Authority intends to negotiate with Developer for the conveyance to Developer of the
Surface Lot only of Cell 2, which is approximately 46.33 gross acres (the “Cell 2 Site”) and
the development thereon of a first-class regional fashion outlet shopping center. The Cell 2
Site is located directly southwest of the 405 Freeway, and is uniquely positioned to attract
retail and commercial business from Orange County, Long Beach, and the west side of Los
Angeles.  This creates a prime location for development of large-scale retail uses.

Prior development projects have been proposed on the Property, including the Carson
Marketplace and Boulevards mixed use regional retail and entertainment projects and a
75,000-seat NFL Stadium. While these projects have not proceeded, the Developer is
currently considering development of the Cell 2 Site, which includes a state-of-the-art
approximately 585,000 square foot regional fashion outlet mall (the "Project"). The Project
is proposed to provide substantial economic and employment opportunities for the
community, with a goal of generating significant new construction and permanent jobs.
The Project shall maintain high standards of urban design, architecture, and development,
including green building standards, adherence to building codes, best practices for
environmental protection, energy efficiency, water conservation, and reduced greenhouse

CITY OF CARSON Printed on 6/30/2016Page 2 of 6

powered by Legistar™

http://www.legistar.com/


File #: 2016-773, Version: 1

gas emissions.

During the negotiation period, the Developer will be required to submit more detailed
concept plans, site plans and Project descriptions prior to receiving any further Project
entitlements from the City. This Agreement is only an agreement to negotiate and does in
any way limit the City's discretion in approving or disapproving the Project.

Developer’s Qualifications

Prior to the Authority’s acquisition of the 157 Acre Site, the Developer was investigating the
development of a portion of the Property with the previous owner, and consequently has a
working understanding of the development constraints and environmental conditions, and
is continuing to conduct its due diligence on the Site. As such, Developer has been
investigating the Cell 2 Site with both the Authority and predecessor for over three years,
and has spent over 2,000 person-hours in this effort to date.

The Developer and its affiliate Macerich currently own and manage 55 million square feet
of regional shopping centers and are the third-largest owner and operator of shopping
centers in the United States. They have demonstrated skill and expertise in retail and
mixed use real estate development and the ability to attract first class commercial tenants.
Headquartered in Santa Monica, the Developer also has substantial local experience,
owning Santa Monica Place, Lakewood Center, Los Cerritos Center and Stonewood Mall.

The company has developed a Fashion Outlet in the Chicago area and is developing
similar properties in Philadelphia and San Francisco.

Fashion Outlets of Chicago is an enclosed outlet mall located one-half mile west of O'Hare
International Airport, in Rosemont, Illinois. It opened on August 1, 2013. The outlet mall
contains about 150 stores including Armani, Bloomingdale's Outlet, Neiman Marcus Last
Call, Saks Fifth Avenue Off Fifth Outlet as well as well-known fashion brands such as Tory
Burch, Prada, Barneys New York, Burberry, Elie Tahari, Longchamp, and Herve Leger. Its
location provides easy access for travelers near O’Hare International Airport and they
make it a priority to accommodate travelers to be able to shop at the mall by providing
them with an area to print tickets and check in their luggage directly. The site in Carson
has a similar appeal for travelers at LAX.

In March 2015, Fashion Outlets of Chicago was selected as the 2014 Best Factory Outlet
Center in the world at the MAPIC Awards. Created in 1996, the MAPIC Awards reward
excellence, innovation and creativity in the retail real estate industry at a prestigious gala
dinner attended by 300 of the most influential industry professionals in the world. The mall
was also the recipient of ICSC’s 2014 U.S. Design and Development Gold.

Negotiations

The City and Developer will negotiate in good faith to enter into a purchase agreement and
a long-term development agreement resulting in the conveyance of ownership of the Cell 2
Site to the Developer (the “Conveyance Instrument.”) Due to the extraordinary costs of
developing on former landfill, concurrent with negotiating a Conveyance Instrument, the

CITY OF CARSON Printed on 6/30/2016Page 3 of 6

powered by Legistar™

http://www.legistar.com/


File #: 2016-773, Version: 1

developing on former landfill, concurrent with negotiating a Conveyance Instrument, the
parties will negotiate an arrangement by which Developer may be refunded a share of the
annual sales tax revenues generated by the Project (“Tax Sharing”) to the extent
necessary to produce an acceptable economic return for the Project.

Within 120 days an Initial Project Schedule shall be developed and Developer and the City
shall work diligently to produce a Project plan in such detail as can be produced during
such period. At Developer’s option, the Term may be extended for an additional period
(the “Extended Term”). During the Term, City and Authority will not negotiate any sort of
similar agreements with any other third party regarding the development of the Cell 2 Site
except as Developer may otherwise approve in writing, or otherwise enter into any
agreements which would limit, hinder, impair, increase the cost of or reduce the revenues
from Developer’s Project (Exhibit No. 1).

As part of the development agreements, Developer will agree to (i) develop the Project
consistent with all applicable laws, ordinances, regulations, zoning, the General Plan and
the applicable specific plan, and (ii) obtain design development review and approval from
the City’s Planning Commission and City Council. During the Initial Term, the parties shall
use their good faith efforts to reach conceptual agreement on the business terms of the
transaction embodied in a draft disposition and development agreement.

During the Additional Period, the Developer shall refine the “Site Plan” specifying the
conceptual framework to guide the overall development of the Project. In addition,
Developer shall prepare the preliminary design plan for the Project, including design
themes, sufficient to allow evaluation of the architectural design and site layout.

During the Term, the Developer shall also provide a detailed pro forma showing the
estimated budget for the development and construction of the Project. Developer may seek
substantial financial assistance from City, without which the Project would not be
economically feasible, including direct financial assistance, sales tax rebates, and
installation of offsite public improvements by the City. The Developer acknowledges that
the pro forma must justify the requested assistance as required for the Developer’s return
on investment. The pro forma shall also show an estimate of the economic return to the
City for at least a ten (10) year period after completion of the Project, including all taxes
and fees (including proposed Tax Sharing scenarios), and other economic returns to the
City as well as jobs and general community benefits.

Reimbursement of City and Authority Costs

City will incur costs relating to the review, processing, preparation and approval of any
additional, supplemental or modified entitlements required for the Project, including the
preparation and/or review of such plans, studies, permits, conditions, site plans, general
plan or zoning entitlements, environmental documents, and agreements as may be
required for the Project (“Approvals”).

The Developer shall also enter into a separate Reimbursement Agreement (Exhibit No. 2)
to reimburse certain City and Authority costs of negotiating and entering into the
Conveyance Instrument, to include out of pocket third party costs for financial analysis,
legal costs and similar costs, and may include all or a portion of the Authority’s carry costs

CITY OF CARSON Printed on 6/30/2016Page 4 of 6

powered by Legistar™

http://www.legistar.com/


File #: 2016-773, Version: 1

legal costs and similar costs, and may include all or a portion of the Authority’s carry costs
for the Cell 2 Site.

Concurrent with executing the Agreement, the Developer shall (i) pay $1,000,000 to City,
and (ii) commence paying or reimbursing the Authority 50% of the carrying costs for the
Cell 2 Site.

When and if the Term is extended past the Initial Term (120 days), the extension shall be
contingent on Developer paying an additional $1,000,000 to the City (the “Sales Tax
Advance Payment”). The Sales Tax Advance Payment is a prepayment of the City’s
portion of sales taxes resulting from the Project, and is to be repaid to Developer from
those sales taxes as received by the City. If Developer abandons the Project after making
the Sales Tax Advance Payment, the City shall retain the Sales Tax Advance Payment,
unless City fails (i) to negotiate a development agreement and hold a public hearing
thereon, or (ii) at the conclusion of such hearing, the City Council in a final action denies
approval of the development agreement and associated Conveyance Instruments.

Development of Other Cells

Currently Developer’s plan encompasses only the Cell 2 Site. The Authority is considering
soliciting other development proposals on the other cells at the Property, and would
undertake this process within 45 days of the date hereof. Developer may compete in this
process or choose not to compete, but in either case Developer may participate in the
developer selection process, and the City and Authority shall cooperate with Developer, to
assure that the development of the other cells harmonize with and contribute to the
success of the Project. City and Authority acknowledge that development and operation of
the Project may require that the Authority complete the environmental remediation and
protection improvements for the other cells simultaneously with construction of the Project.

V. FISCAL IMPACT

Through the Reimbursement Agreement, the Developer shall pay for all out-of-pocket
costs for preparing the Conveyance Instrument, including attorneys’ fees, economic
consultants, and other costs, as well as the City’s out-of-pocket costs for processing any
Site Plan or development application, including the preparation and/or review of such
plans, studies, permits, conditions, site plans, general plan or zoning entitlements,
environmental documents, and agreements as may be required for the Project. City or
Authority staff costs are not covered by the Reimbursement Agreement.

In addition, Developer shall commence paying for 50% of the Authority’s holding costs for
Cell 2. This includes a pro rata share of all recurring costs paid to Tetra Tech, the
remediation contractor for items such as project management, construction management,
storm water management, site security, vector control, weed abatement, perimeter gas
monitoring, the operation of the landfill gas system and other such direct costs. The

CITY OF CARSON Printed on 6/30/2016Page 5 of 6

powered by Legistar™

http://www.legistar.com/


File #: 2016-773, Version: 1

monitoring, the operation of the landfill gas system and other such direct costs. The
Developer will also pay all of the direct costs of engaging Tetra Tech in the design of the
remedial systems specifically for Cell 2.

Furthermore, if the parties extend the Agreement past the Initial Period, the Developer will
pay the City an advance of Sale Tax revenue in the amount of $1,000,000. That pre-
payment will be rebated to the Developer over a number of years from sales tax received
from the completed project.

VI. EXHIBITS

1. Exclusive Right to Negotiate with CAM-CARSON, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company.  (pgs. 7-25)

2. Reimbursement Agreement with CAM-CARSON, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company.  (To be provided)

Prepared by: John Raymond, Community Development Director

CITY OF CARSON Printed on 6/30/2016Page 6 of 6

powered by Legistar™

http://www.legistar.com/








































01007.0515/303091.1  

REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN 

CITY OF CARSON AND THE CARSON RECLAMATION AUTHORITY 
AND  

CAM-CARSON LLC  
 

 
THIS REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT ("Agreement") shall be effective July 

7,1 2016 (“Effective Date”), by and between the CITY OF CARSON, a California 
municipal corporation ("City"), CARSON RECLAMATION AUTHORITY, a California 
joint powers authority (“Authority”), and CAM-CARSON LLC, a a Delaware limited 
liability company ("Developer", or collectively with City and Authority, the "Parties").  

 
R E C I T A L S:  

 
A. The 157-Acre Property.  The Authority acquired, and currently owns, 

approximately 157 gross acres of real property in the City of Carson, as shown on the Site Map 
attached hereto as Exhibit “A” (the “Property”).  The Property is divided into five (5) Cells as 
shown on Exhibit “A” and is subject to The Boulevards at South Bay Specific Plan, approved 
on February 8, 2006, and amended on April 5, 2011 (the “Specific Plan”).  The Property is a 
former landfill site, and on October 25, 1995, the California Department of Toxic Substances 
Control (“DTSC”) approved a Remedial Action Plan (“RAP”) for portions of the Property, 
which RAP requires the installation, operation and maintenance of certain remedial systems, 
including a landfill cap, gas extraction and treatment system, and groundwater collection and 
treatment system on the Property (“Remedial Systems”).   

B. Consent Decree and Compliance Framework.  In a lawsuit initiated by DTSC 
entitled California Department of Toxic Substances Control v. Commercial Realty Projects, Inc., 
et al. (U.S. District Court, Central District of California, Civil Action No. 95-8773), the court 
entered a Consent Decree in December 1996; a Consent Decree resolving claims against Atlantic 
Richfield Company, et al. on March 29, 2001; a Supplemental Consent Decree on March 29, 
2001; and Modifications by Consent to Supplemental Consent Decree and Defense Group 
Decree on March 29, 2001 (collectively, the “Consent Decree”).  DTSC entered into the 
Compliance Framework Agreement dated as of September 28, 2006, with the property owner as 
amended by the First Amendment to Compliance Framework Agreement dated as of December 
31, 2007 (collectively, the "CFA”) for, as stated in the CFA, the purpose of setting forth a plan 
for implementing the Consent Decree, and the CFA required the property owner to establish 
financial assurance for implementation of the RAP, including long-term operation and 
maintenance of the Remedial Systems ("O&M"). 

C. Prior Owners of Property.  L.A. MetroMall, LLC, a California limited liability 
company (“L.A. MetroMall”), as seller, and Hopkins Real Estate Group (“Hopkins”), as buyer, 
entered into a Real Estate Purchase Contract, dated March 1, 2004, for the purchase and sale of 
the Property (the “2004 Agreement”).  Hopkins sold the Property to Carson Marketplace in 
2005, and Carson Marketplace (“CM”) sold the Property to Authority on May 20, 2015.  
                                                 
1 Assuming City Council approval on July 5, 2016 



01007.0515/303091.1  2 
 

D. Environmental Remediation.  In connection with the obligation to implement the 
Remedial Systems, CM and Tetra Tech, Inc. (“Tetra Tech”) entered into a Fixed Price Design 
and Construction Environmental Assurance Agreement dated December 31, 2007, as amended, 
for, among other things, the design and construction of the Remedial Systems and a Fixed Price 
Operations and Maintenance Environmental Assurance Agreement dated December 31, 2007, as 
amended, for, among other things the operation, maintenance and monitoring of the Remedial 
Systems.  In December 2007 AIG Environmental issued the Carson Marketplace Cleanup Cost 
Cap Insurance Policy (the “AIG” Policy”), and in September 2006 CM also obtained a Pollution 
and Remediation Legal Liability Policy issued by XL Environmental; CM, Tetra Tech and Wells 
Fargo Bank, National Association, entered into a Carson Marketplace Design and Construction 
EAA Trust Agreement dated April 13, 2009, as amended by a First Amendment to Carson 
Marketplace Design and Construction EAA Agreement dated June 12, 2012 (collectively, the 
"EAA Trust Agreement") to establish a trust account for funds to be paid to Tetra Tech for 
certain remediation activities, improvements and operations, payable upon completion of certain 
work (the "EAA Trust Account"). Tetra Tech has stated that the EAA Trust Account has a 
remaining balance of approximately $30 million as of 2016.  The Agency has been assigned all 
of CM’s rights and assumed all of CM’s obligations pursuant to the EAA Trust Agreement and 
EAA Trust Account. 

E. Remediation Authority Acquisition.  City determined that there were a number of 
former landfill and other sites with the need for remediation in the City, including the Property, 
and that a substantial need existed to establish an entity to perform such remediation and which 
could operate ongoing remediation systems, without putting City’s general fund and taxpayer 
dollars at risk for such cleanup expense.  Accordingly City established a joint powers authority 
under the provisions of the California Joint Powers Act (Govt. Code Sections 6500 et seq.), and 
on January 20, 2015, the governing boards of the Housing Authority and Community Facilities 
Districts each approved an agreement for the formation of the Authority for the purpose of 
overseeing and facilitating the remediation of contaminated properties in the City, and for the 
maintenance and potential development of same, and said Authority was formed on February 17, 
2015, and officers were elected April 20, 2015.  Among the powers of Authority are to purchase, 
hold, sell, and improve real property, to appoint officers and employees, to enter contracts, to 
purchase insurance, to sue and be sued, and to construct, operate, and maintain remediation 
systems to alleviate soil contamination.   

F. Authority Remediation of Property.  CM and Authority, City, and the Successor 
Agency to the Carson Redevelopment Agency (the “Successor Agency”) entered into that 
certain Settlement, Release and Indemnity Agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) dated May 
20, 2015, pursuant to which Authority agreed to take title to the Property, as provided for in the 
Settlement Agreement, and pursuant to which Successor Agency committed to provide the 
remaining $50.5 million in funding (the “Funding”) to Authority through the issuance of taxable 
bonds (“Bonds”); and the California Department of Finance (“DOF”) provided a determination 
that the Successor Agency’s obligation to provide the Funding is an enforceable obligation of the 
Successor Agency and that DOF has no objections to the transfer of the Property from CM to 
Authority, the issuance of bonds by Successor Agency to provide funding for completion of the 
remediation work and other infrastructure improvements. The Remedial Systems work is being 
undertaken with financial assistance being provided by the City, the Authority, the Carson Public 



01007.0515/303091.1  3 
 

Financing Authority, and the Carson Successor Agency, successor to the dissolved Carson 
Redevelopment Agency, through the issuance of multiple series of bonds. 

G. Area Underutilized.  The Property is the largest tract of undeveloped property in 
the City as of the Effective Date, and represents significant potential for public benefit through 
appropriate development.  The development of the Project (hereinafter defined) will provide the 
economic opportunity to finally remediate the Property some 60 years after closure of the 
landfill, and finally carry out the purposes of the Consent Decree and RAP.  Moreover, the 
Property is currently underutilized, falling substantially short of its commercial, industrial, 
revenue-generating and job-generating potential.  The City therefore seeks to enable the Property 
to be used for commercial uses, providing further economic and employment opportunities on 
and around the Property while maintaining high standards of development and environmental 
protection.  The City seeks to utilize the Property in a manner that will maximize public benefits 
and welfare. 

H. The Project Site.  The Property has been vertically subdivided into a surface lot 
(the “Surface Lot”) and a subsurface lot (the “Subsurface Lot”), which lots are referenced on 
the “Designation of Parcels” (Exhibit “B”) as Parcels 1 (Subsurface Lot) and 2 (Surface Lot) of 
Parcel Map No. 70372.  The Authority intends to negotiate with Developer for the conveyance to 
Developer of the Surface Lot only of Cell 2, which is approximately 46.33 gross acres (the “Cell 
2 Site”) and the development thereon of a first-class regional fashion outlet shopping center. The 
Cell 2 Site is located directly southwest of the 405 freeway, and is uniquely positioned to attract 
retail and commercial business from Orange County, Long Beach, and Los Angeles.  This 
creates a prime location for development of large-scale retail uses.  

I. The Proposed Project.  Prior development projects have been proposed on the 
Property as described above, including the Boulevards mixed use regional retail and 
entertainment project and a 75,000-seat NFL Stadium.  While these projects have not proceeded, 
Developer is currently considering development of the Cell 2 Site, which development includes a 
state-of-the-art approximately 500,000 square foot regional fashion outlet mall (the "Project").  
The Project is proposed to provide substantial economic and employment opportunities for the 
community, with a goal of generating at least 1,600 new direct construction jobs, with another 
1,000 indirect and induced, as well as 1,500 new permanent jobs.  The Project shall maintain 
high standards of urban design, architecture, and development, including "Cal-Green" and LEED 
building standards, adherence to building codes (subject to such variances as the city may 
approve), best practices for environmental protection, energy efficiency, water conservation, and 
reduced greenhouse gas emissions. The Project will also include necessary street and utility 
infrastructure to the extent located on the Cell 2 Site, but the Developer expects the City to 
provide all necessary street and utility infrastructure outside of the Cell 2 Site.  Developer has 
submitted a conceptual proposal showing the proposed Project and attached as the “Preliminary 
Site Plan” as shown in Exhibit “C”.  The Developer's proposal at this point is a very general 
outline of Project potential.  Developer will be required to submit more detailed concept plans, 
site plans and Project descriptions prior to receiving any further Project entitlements from the 
City, if any are required.  This Agreement is only an agreement to negotiate and does not 
guaranty that the City will issue any further Project entitlements and does not in any way limit 
the City's discretion in approving or disapproving the Project or any portion thereof.  



01007.0515/303091.1  4 
 

J. Developer’s Qualifications.  Developer was previously investigating the 
development of a portion of the Property when owned by CM, and consequently has a working 
understanding of the development constraints and environmental conditions, and continues to 
conduct its due diligence investigations thereof. Developer and its affiliates currently own and 
manage 55 million square feet of regional shopping centers across the United States.  Developer 
and its affiliates have demonstrated skill and expertise in retail and mixed use real estate 
development, the ability to attract reputable commercial tenants. Developer, headquartered in 
Santa Monica, has substantial local experience in development.  

K. Exclusive Negotiations on Agreement With Goal of Reaching a Conveyance 
Instrument.  The City and Developer are entering into an agreement to negotiate (“Exclusive 
Negotiation Agreement” or “ENA”), to negotiate in good faith to first agree on a memorandum 
of understanding (the “MOU”), and then negotiate and enter into one or more of purchase 
agreement and a long-term development agreement, or equivalent such agreement(s) effecting 
the conveyance of ownership of the Cell 2 Site to Developer, and setting forth the terms of 
Project development and operation (each and collectively, a “Conveyance Instrument”).  In 
order to fund the costs of negotiating the necessary agreements and undertaking certain planning 
activities and consultant expenses, and to pay certain of the Authority’s costs for holding the 
Property, the Developer is agreeing to reimburse certain of Authority’s costs pursuant to this 
Reimbursement Agreement.   

NOW, THEREFORE, and in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein 
and incorporating the Recitals above which are deemed to be true and correct, and with the 
Exhibits are incorporated herein by reference, the parties mutually agree to the following:   

  
AGREEMENT:  

1. General. 

1.1 Recitals.  The Recitals set forth above are true and correct and are deemed 
incorporated herein by reference. 

1.2 Exclusive Negotiating Agreement and Phasing of Study.  Concurrently 
herewith the parties have entered into an ENA which has an Initial Term of 120 days to come to 
agreement on the terms of the MOU, and an Extended Term of 245 days to obtain any necessary 
additional entitlement and come to agreement on the terms of the Conveyance Instrument, 
development agreement and related agreements.  Such periods may be extended in accordance 
with the terms of the ENA. 

1.2.1 Initial Term.  The ENA provides that its initial term commences on 
the Effective Date and terminates one hundred twenty days thereafter (“Initial Term”).  During 
the Initial Term, the ENA requires the Developer to (i) conduct its due diligence with respect to 
the Property and the Project as described herein, (ii) develop the basic business terms of the 
transaction, (iii) develop an initial project schedule in cooperation with the City, and (iv) work 
diligently to produce a conceptual Project site plan.   



01007.0515/303091.1  5 
 

1.2.2 Extended Term.  If prior to expiration of the Initial Term the 
Parties agree on an MOU encompassing the points in Section 1.2.1 above, then the ENA 
provides for extension of the term of the ENA for an additional two hundred forty-five days to 
obtain any required additional entitlements and any required additional CEQA processing and 
negotiate a development agreement, Conveyance Instrument, Tax Sharing Agreement terms and 
other necessary agreements for the Cell 2 Site (the “Extended Term”, or, together with the 
Initial Term, the “Term”).   

1.3 Deposits and Reimbursement.  Within ten (10) days of the execution of 
this Agreement, and on the terms and conditions contained herein, the Developer shall (i) 
advance $1,000,000 to City, and (ii) commence paying or reimbursing City for fifty percent of 
those types of carrying costs for the Cell 2 Site as are set forth on Exhibit B to this Agreement.   

1.4 Sales Tax Advance.  When and if the MOU is executed, Developer shall 
advance an additional $1,000,000 to the City (the “Sales Tax Advance Payment”).  The Sales 
Tax Advance Payment is a prepayment of the City’s portion of a portion of the sales taxes 
resulting from the Project, and is to be repaid to Developer from those sales taxes as received by 
the City in addition to and concurrently with any other sale tax reimbursements agreed to by the 
City.  If Developer abandons the Project after making the Sales Tax Advance Payment, the City 
shall retain the Sales Tax Advance Payment, unless during the Extended Term (as the same may 
be extended pursuant to the ENA) City fails (i) to negotiate a development agreement 
incorporating the terms of the MOU and hold a public hearing thereon, or (ii) at the conclusion 
of such hearing, the City Council in a final action does not approve the development agreement 
and associated Conveyance Instruments. 

1.5 Administration of Accounts.  This Agreement provides for Developer’s 
payment for two types of Authority expenses, described herein as (i) reimbursement of “Eligible 
Expenses” from the “Deposit Account,” and (ii) payment or reimbursement of the pro rata share 
(Cell 2) of “Holding Costs”.  Monies deposited with, paid to or reimbursed to the City may be 
aggregated and mingled with other funds of the City. 

1.6 Effective Date.  The Effective Date is the date when both this Agreement 
and the ENA have been executed and delivered by the last Party who must execute them to make 
them effective. 

2. Conflicts of Interest.  

2.1 No Financial Relationship.  Developer acknowledges the requirements of 
Government Code Sections 1090 et seq. (the “1090 Laws”) and warrants that it has not entered 
into any financial or transactional relationships or arrangements that would violate the 1090 
Laws, nor shall Developer solicit, participate in, or facilitate a violation of the 1090 Laws.  

2.2 Developer's Representations and Warranties. Developer represents and 
warrants that for the twelve (12) month period preceding the effective date of this Agreement it 
has not entered into any arrangement to pay financial consideration to, and has not made any 
payment to, any City official, agent or employee that would create a legally cognizable conflict 



01007.0515/303091.1  6 
 

of interest as defined in the Political Reform Act (California Government Code sections 87100 et 
seq.).  

2.3 Developer's Acknowledgments. Subject to the reimbursement obligations 
set forth below, Developer acknowledges and agrees as follows with respect to the Project:  

2.3.1 The City has sole discretion to select which of its employees and 
contractors are assigned to work on the Project.  

2.3.2 The City has sole discretion to direct the work and evaluate the 
performance of the employees and contractors assigned to work on the Project, and the City 
retains the right to terminate or replace at any time any such person.  

2.3.3 The City has sole discretion to determine the amount of 
compensation paid to employees or contractors assigned to work on the Project.  

2.3.4 The City, not Developer, shall pay employees and contractors 
assigned to work on the application from a City account.  

3. Deposit Account; Eligible Expenses.  

3.1 Third Party Costs Related to Required Additional Approvals.  City will 
incur costs relating to the review, processing, preparation and approval of any additional, 
supplemental or modified entitlements required for the Project, including the preparation 
and/or review of such plans, studies, permits, conditions, site plans, general plan or zoning 
entitlements, environmental documents, and agreements as may be required for the Project 
(“Approvals”).  

3.2 Deposit.  Within ten (10) business days following the Effective Date of 
this Agreement, Developer shall deposit with City One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) (the 
“Deposit”)  as a good faith deposit to cover the costs of Eligible Expenses (defined below).  

3.3 Eligible Expenses. The Deposit shall be used only to pay for the 
reasonable and actual third-party out of pocket costs incurred by the City in connection with the 
following (all of which shall be deemed "Eligible Expenses"):  (i) preparing, negotiating, and 
approving the Approvals; (ii) preparing and negotiating all further legal documents in connection 
with the Approvals, including without limitation, specific plan amendments, development 
agreements, disposition and development agreements, additional land use approvals and similar 
agreements and instruments; (iii) any and all legal costs related to the Approvals or Project, 
other than responding to challenges by Developer; (iv) defense of any legal or administrative 
action challenging any Approvals, other than challenges by Developer; (v) the actual fees and 
expenses of any consultants employed by the City in connection with the Project, including 
without limitation, a financial advisor, an environmental consultant or planning experts; 
(vi) studies, reports and design services, and agreements related to development of any Project-
related infrastructure; and (vii)  any and all other actions taken by the City  in connection with 
the planning and development of the Project. 



01007.0515/303091.1  7 
 

3.4 Administration of Deposit. The Deposit may be pooled with other funds of 
the City or Authority for purposes of investment and safekeeping. The Deposit shall not accrue 
interest. The City or Authority will administer the Deposit and the City may draw upon the 
Deposit to pay for Eligible Expenses. . 

3.5 Unexpended Funds. Upon (i) expiration of the ENA after the Initial 
Phase, or thereafter, (ii) approval of all necessary entitlements for the Project, the 
expiration of all applicable appeal periods, and if a legal or administrative challenge is 
made to the entitlements, then upon the resolution of such challenge, or (iii) termination of 
this Agreement by any of the Parties, the City shall not unreasonably or unnecessarily incur 
any additional Eligible Expenses outside of those expenses reasonably required for the 
winding-down of Project completion or termination of this Agreement.   If this Agreement 
is terminated by any of the Parties (thus terminating Developer’s efforts to develop the 
Project), then the unexpended amount of the Deposit shall be refunded to Developer, 
provided that no more than $750,000 of the Deposit shall be refunded under any 
circumstances.  In such case, if the unexpended amount is greater than $750,000, the 
difference shall be contributed to the Carson Community Foundation as a contribution from 
the Developer. If this Agreement is not terminated and the Cell 2 Site is conveyed to 
Developer, then any unexpended amount of the Deposit shall be contributed to the Carson 
Community Foundation as a contribution from the Developer.  

4. Authority’s Holding Costs. 

4.1 Holding Costs.  Authority currently incurs certain monthly third party out 
of pocket costs to maintain the 157 Acre Property, including to maintain the existing Remedial 
Systems. A schedule of the types of costs of the Authority in connection with the maintenance of 
the 157 Acre Property and the Remedial Systems (“Holding Costs”), and estimates of the 
amounts thereof, broken down by cell, is shown in the “Schedule of Holding Costs” and is 
attached as Exhibit B. 

4.2 Payment or Reimbursement of Holding Costs for Cell 2. Developer shall 
pay fifty percent of the Holding Costs actually incurred by Authority with respect to the Cell 2 
Site after the Effective Date, until Developer terminates this Agreement or acquires title to the 
Cell 2 Site.  Developer shall monthly pay the amount shown in the Schedule of Holding Costs 
for Cell 2, commencing ten (10) days following the Effective Date, and on the same date of each 
month (or, if such date is not a business day, then on the next succeeding business day) thereafter 
during the term of this Agreement.  

4.3 Reconciling Payment of Holding Costs for the Cell 2 Site. Quarterly, 
Authority shall provide an accounting of the pro rata share of Holding Costs, and a reconciliation 
comparing the payment by Developer with the actual costs.  Adjustments will then be made to 
the next payment.  If Authority finds that its actual costs for any Holding Costs advanced by 
Developer exceeds the scheduled Holding Costs in Exhibit B, Authority shall prepare a written 
accounting showing such excess expenses.  Developer shall pay such amount to Authority within 
thirty (30) days of its receipt of a written request for payment together with reasonable 
documentation.  



01007.0515/303091.1  8 
 

5. Developer's Rights Concerning Expenses and Review of Documents. 

5.1 Statements of Account. Within twenty (20) days after the end of each 
calendar month, the City or Authority, as may be applicable, shall provide Developer a 
detailed accounting of expenditures made from the Deposit Account and with respect to 
Holding Costs, together with copies of all invoices for costs included in such request. The 
City or Authority shall make available for review copies of each statement or invoice 
received from any consultant or professional whose costs are chargeable from the Deposit 
or Advanced Funds, whichever being applicable (Developer shall pay for any extra 
accounting expenses if Developer requires reporting on a more frequent basis than 
quarterly). All privileged or confidential information shall be redacted or otherwise deleted 
from invoices for legal services provided to Developer.   

5.2 City to Expedite Work. In consideration for Developer's agreement to 
provide the Deposit, City agrees to use its best efforts to expedite the processing of the 
entitlements. In furtherance thereof, City agrees to use its good faith efforts to cause all 
consultants and professionals retained by City to act in a diligent and expeditious manner in 
performing their work. To the extent that consultants and professionals must work overtime 
at the premium rates to expedite the process, through the Deposit, Developer shall pay for 
such expedited rates. Additionally, if Developer requires expedited performance from City 
employees, Developer shall pay the City for such expedited service at agreed rates, or may 
pay for a third party contract consultant, at rates agreed upon with City. 

5.3 Agreement Not Debt or Liability of City or Authority. It is hereby 
acknowledged and agreed that this Agreement is not a debt or liability of the City or the 
Authority. The City shall not in any event be liable hereunder other than to return the 
unexpended and uncommitted portions of the Deposit, and to provide any accounting. 
Neither City nor Authority shall be obligated to advance any of their own respective funds 
with respect to any document or for any of the other purposes listed herein. No official, 
officer, employee or agent of the City or Authority shall be personally liable hereunder to 
any extent.  

6. Indemnification and Hold Harmless. 

6.1 Non-liability of City and Authority Concerning Entitlements. The 
Parties acknowledge that there may be challenges to the legality, validity and adequacy of 
the Approvals and/or this Agreement in the future; and if successful, such challenges could 
delay or prevent the performance of this Agreement and the development of the Project. 
Neither the City or Authority shall have liability under this Agreement for the inability of 
Developer to develop the Project as the result of a judicial determination that the 
entitlements, the general plan, the zoning, the land use regulations, or any portions thereof 
are invalid or inadequate or not in compliance with law. 

6.2 Participation in Litigation: Indemnity. Developer agrees to indemnify, 
protect, defend, and hold harmless the City, the Authority, and their respective officials, officers, 
employees, agents, elected boards, commissions, departments, agencies, and instrumentalities 
thereof, from any and all actions, suits, claims, demands, writs of mandamus, liabilities, losses, 



01007.0515/303091.1  9 
 

damages, penalties, obligations, expenses, and any other actions or proceedings (whether legal, 
equitable, declaratory, administrative, or adjudicatory in nature), and alternative dispute 
resolution procedures (including, but not limited to, arbitrations, mediations, and other such 
procedures) asserted by third parties against the City or the Authority that arise from, challenge, 
or seek to collect any monetary, declaratory, or equitable relief, void, set aside, or otherwise 
modify or annul, the action of, or any approval by, the City or the Authority for or concerning 
the Approvals  (including, but not limited to, attorneys' fees and costs) (herein the "Claims and 
Liabilities"), whether such Claims and Liabilities  arise out of or under planning and zoning 
laws, the Subdivision Map Act, Code of Civil Procedure section 1085 or 1094.5, or any other 
federal, state, or local statute, law, ordinance, rule, regulation, or any decision of a competent 
jurisdiction.  In the event any action for any Claims and Liabilities is brought against the City 
and/or Authority, upon City’s or Authority’s notification to Developer of the pendency of a 
claim or suit to challenge the Approvals, the Developer shall make a minimum deposit sufficient 
to pay all of the Developer’s estimated indemnification obligations for the next ninety (90) days, 
which includes legal costs and fees anticipated to be incurred as reasonably determined by the 
City and Authority. Developer shall make deposits required under this Section within ten  (10) 
days of the City’s or Authority’s written request. At no point shall the minimum balance of the 
deposit fall below One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000).  Developer may choose not to 
pay defense costs of a claim or lawsuit should the Developer actually terminate the Project and 
terminate this Agreement. Upon such termination, the City and Authority shall have the right to 
reimbursement of any amounts for fees and other costs that were reasonably incurred by the City 
or Authority up to the date of Developer’s termination or for which the City or Authority may be 
liable as a result of the termination of the litigation.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Developer 
shall have no obligation to indemnify City or Authority against claims of Developer against City 
or Authority relating to the Approval process. 

6.3 City Right to Abandon.  If Developer fails to timely pay such funds, the 
City and Authority may abandon the action without liability to Developer and may recover from 
Developer any attorneys' fees and other costs for which the City or Authority may be liable as a 
result of abandonment of the action. It is expressly agreed that the City and Authority shall have 
the right to utilize the City Attorney's office or use other legal counsel of its choosing. 
Developer's obligation to pay the defense costs of the City or Authority shall extend until final 
judgment, including any appeals, unless this Agreement is otherwise terminated by Developer as 
described in the foregoing paragraph. City and Authority agree to fully cooperate with Developer 
in the defense of any matter in which Developer is defending and/or holding the City and 
Authority harmless. The City and Authority may make all reasonable decisions with respect to 
their respective representation in any legal proceeding, including their inherent right to abandon 
or to settle any litigation brought against them in their reasonable discretion.  

6.4 Hold Harmless: Developer's Construction and Other Activities. Developer 
hereby agrees to, and shall defend, save and hold the City, the Authority, and each of their 
respective elected and appointed boards, commissions, officers, agents, and employees harmless 
from any and all claims, costs (including attorneys' fees) and liability for any damages, personal 
injury or death, that may arise, directly or indirectly, from Developer's or Developer's agents, 
contractors, subcontractors, agents, or employees' development pursuant to the Approvals, 
whether such development is conducted by Developer or by any of Developer's agents, 
contractors or subcontractors or by any one or more persons directly or indirectly employed by 



01007.0515/303091.1  10 
 

or acting as agent for Developer or any of Developer's agents, contractors or subcontractors. 
Nothing herein is intended to make Developer liable for the acts of the City's or Authority’s 
officers, employees, agents, contractors, or subcontractors.  

6.5 Exception. The obligations of Developer under this Section shall not 
apply to any claims, actions, or proceedings arising through the gross negligence or willful 
misconduct of the City, the Authority, and their respective members, officers, or employees.  

6.6 Survival of Indemnity Obligations. All indemnity provisions set forth 
in this Agreement shall survive termination of this Agreement.  

7. Notices.  Any notices, requests, demands, documents, approvals or 
disapprovals given or sent under this Agreement from one party to another (collectively, the 
"Notices") shall be given to the party entitled thereto at its address set forth below, or at 
such other address as such party may provide to the other parties in writing from time to 
time, namely:  

If to Developer: CAM-Carson LLC 
c/o The Macerich Company 
401 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 700 
Santa Monica, California 90401 
Attention: Thomas J. Leanse, Esq. 
Email: Thomas.leanse@macerich.com 
 

With a copy to: Manatt, Phelps & Phillips, LLP 
11355 West Olympic Boulevard 
Los Angeles, California 90064 
Attention: Tom Muller, Esq. 
Email: tmuller@manatt.com  
 

If to the City:   City of Carson  
   701 East Carson Street  
   Carson, CA 90745  
   Attn: City Manager 
   Email: kfarfsing@carson.ca.us  

 
If to the Authority: Carson Reclamation Authority  
   701 East Carson Street  
   Carson, CA 90745  
   Attn: Executive Director 
   Email: kfarfsing@carson.ca.us 

 
With a copy to:  Sunny K. Soltani, Esq. 

Aleshire & Wynder, LLP  
   18881 Von Karman Avenue, Suite 1700  
   Irvine, CA 92612  
   Email: ssoltani@awattorneys.com    

mailto:Thomas.leanse@macerich.com
mailto:tmuller@manatt.com
mailto:kfarfsing@carson.ca.us
mailto:kfarfsing@carson.ca.us
mailto:ssoltani@awattorneys.com


01007.0515/303091.1  11 
 

 
Each such Notice shall be deemed delivered to the party to whom it is addressed: (i) if 
personally served or delivered, upon delivery; (ii) if given by registered or certified mail, 
return receipt requested, deposited with the United States mail postage prepaid, seventy-two 
(72) hours after such notice is deposited with the United States mail; (iii) if given by 
overnight courier, with courier charges prepaid, twenty-four (24) hours after delivery to said 
overnight courier; (iv) if sent by electronic mail, when received as evidenced by 
confirmation of receipt, or (v) if given by any other means, upon delivery at the address 
specified in this Section.  

 
8. Enforcement. 

8.1   California Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by, construed in 
accordance with, and interpreted under the laws of the State of California. The venue for any 
litigation regarding this Agreement shall be Los Angeles County, State of California.  

8.2 Legal Action.  In addition to any other rights or remedies, either party 
may take legal action, in law or in equity, to cure, correct or remedy any default, for any 
default, to compel specific performance of this Agreement, to obtain declaratory or 
injunctive relief, or to obtain any other remedy consistent with the purposes of this 
Agreement. 

8.3 Termination.  Upon Developer’s termination, withdrawal from, or 
abandonment of the Project, which Developer may do at any time, this Agreement and the ENA 
shall terminate upon written notice by Developer to City and Authority.  A notice of termination 
of this Agreement shall be in writing and describe the circumstances under which the Project is 
terminated, withdrawn, expired or abandoned. 

8.3.1 Meet and Confer.  No termination shall be effective until 30 days 
after the parties have at least had an initial meet and confer session as to whether the cause for 
the termination can be cured, provided that the parties shall meet and confer within 14 days of 
Developer’s notice of desire to terminate.  The foregoing time periods can be extended by mutual 
agreement of the parties. 

8.3.2 Payment of Eligible Expenses.  Upon such termination of this 
Agreement or upon completion of the Project, the City shall have the right to withdraw from the 
advance made under clause (i) of Section 1.3 hereof any amounts for Eligible Expenses then due. 
To the extent such outstanding Eligible Expenses exceed the amount of such advance, Developer 
shall pay those excess amounts within thirty (30) days of termination of this Agreement or 
completion of the Project, as may be applicable.  

8.3.3 Holding Costs.  Developer shall be liable to pay to Authority any 
amounts then due for any Holding Costs until thirty (30) days following the termination. 

8.3.4 Indemnity.  The indemnity obligations in Article 6 shall survive per 
Section 6.6, and after adoption of the development agreement, the $5.6 million guarantee 
provided therein shall survive. 



01007.0515/303091.1  12 
 

8.4 Attorneys' Fees.  In the event that any party shall commence any legal 
action or proceeding to enforce or interpret this Agreement, the prevailing party in such action or 
proceeding shall be entitled to recover its costs of suit, including reasonable attorneys' fees.  

9. Miscellaneous. 

9.1 Right to Assign.  Developer has the right to transfer or assign its 
obligations under this Agreement to (i) any an entity at least fifty percent owned and effectively 
controlled by The Macerich Partnership, L.P., without need for consent, or (ii) any other 
successor development entity carrying out the Project with the written consent of the City and 
Authority, which consent the City and Authority can unilaterally determine to give or withhold.  
Upon such approved transfer, the obligations of the Developer hereunder shall transfer to the 
successor, and Developer shall be relieved of its obligations hereunder, including the 
indemnification obligations provided in this Agreement. 

9.2 Severability.  If any part of this Agreement is held to be illegal or 
unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of this Agreement shall be 
given effect to the fullest extent reasonably possible. 

9.3 Interpretation.  In the event of any asserted ambiguity in, or dispute 
regarding, the interpretation of any matter herein, the interpretation of this Agreement shall not 
be resolved by any rules of interpretation providing for interpretation against the party who 
caused the uncertainty to exist or against the drafting party.  The ENA and this Agreement 
including the Exhibits hereto and thereto, are the entire, complete and exclusive expression 
of the understanding of the parties.  It is understood that there are no oral agreements 
between the parties hereto affecting this Agreement and this Agreement supersedes and 
cancels any and all previous negotiations, arrangements, agreements and understandings, if 
any, between the parties, and none shall be used to interpret this Agreement.  

9.4 Amendment.  No amendment to or modification of this Agreement 
shall be valid unless made in writing and approved by City Council and Developer.  The 
parties agree that this requirement for written modifications cannot be waived and that any 
attempted waiver shall be void. 

9.5 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, 
each of which shall be deemed an original. 

9.6 Authority.  The persons executing this Agreement on behalf of the parties 
hereto warrant that: (i) such party is duly organized and existing; (ii) they are duly authorized to 
execute and deliver this Agreement on behalf of said party; and (iii) the entering into of this 
Agreement does not violate any provision of any other agreement to which said party is bound. 

  



01007.0515/303091.1  13 
 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the 
day and year written alongside their respective signature line below.  

Executed on:      , 2016  CITY OF CARSON 
 
ATTEST: 
 
             
City Clerk      Albert Robles 
       Mayor 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
ALESHIRE & WYNDER, LLP 
 
       
Sunny K. Soltani 
City Attorney  
 
 
Executed on:  ____________________, 2016 CARSON RECLAMATION 

AUTHORITY 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
             
Board Secretary      Chair 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
ALESHIRE & WYNDER, LLP 
 
 
 
       
Sunny K. Soltani 
Authority Counsel  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



01007.0515/303091.1  14 
 

Executed on:      , 2016  "DEVELOPER": 
 

CAM-CARSON LLC,  
a Delaware limited liability company 
 
 
By: _________________________ 

Thomas J. Leanse, Senior Executive 
Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and 
Secretary 



01007.0515/303091.1  15 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT A 

SITE DESCRIPTION AND DEPICTION 



01007.0515/303091.1  

 
EXHIBIT B 

CARSON RECLAMATION AUTHORITY - HOLDING COSTS 
 

 
Original CRA Work Orders/Ongoing Costs 

  
Pro Rata Percentages by Month by Cell 

Description of Work Gross Cost 

Average 
Monthly 

Cost Cell 1 Cell 2 Cell 3 Cell 4 Cell 5 
      11.87% 32.13% 21.92% 25.96% 8.11% 

        Project Management Paid to Tetra Tech $523,922.69 $65,490.34 $7,773.82 $21,041.93 $14,357.39 $17,003.58 $5,313.62 
Perimeter Monitoring $311,443.56 $38,930.45 $4,621.11 $12,508.28 $8,534.69 $10,107.70 $3,158.66 
Vector Control $41,902.21 $5,237.78 $621.73 $1,682.89 $1,148.27 $1,359.91 $424.97 
Site Security $395,294.80 $49,411.85 $5,865.28 $15,875.94 $10,832.52 $12,829.04 $4,009.08 
Watering Perimeter $82,798.89 $10,349.86 $1,228.55 $3,325.39 $2,268.99 $2,687.19 $839.75 
Storage Yard Maintenance $15,440.17 $1,930.02 $229.10 $620.11 $423.12 $501.10 $156.59 
Quarterly Soil Gas Monitoring Report $43,619.26 $5,452.41 $647.21 $1,751.85 $1,195.33 $1,415.64 $442.39 
Construction Management for Groundwater Collection 
System $90,726.71 $11,340.84 $1,346.18 $3,643.79 $2,486.24 $2,944.48 $920.15 
SWPPP $674,255.78 $84,281.97 $10,004.42 $27,079.64 $18,477.07 $21,882.54 $6,838.29 
LFG OM&M $232,358.07 $46,471.61 $5,516.27 $14,931.24 $10,187.94 $12,065.65 $3,770.52 
Concrete Crushing $173,010.70 $43,252.68 $5,134.17 $13,897.01 $9,482.25 $11,229.90 $3,509.34 
Subtotal Tetra Tech $2,584,772.84 $362,149.80 $42,987.84 $116,358.07 $79,393.81 $94,026.72 $29,383.35 

        SCS Engineers $120,000.00 $15,000.00 $1,780.53 $4,819.47 $3,288.44 $3,894.52 $1,217.04 
SEG Advisors $160,000.00 $20,000.00 $2,374.04 $6,425.96 $4,384.58 $5,192.70 $1,622.72 

        Total $2,864,772.84 $397,149.80 $47,142.41 $127,603.50 $87,066.84 $103,113.94 $32,223.11 
316722665.1  
316722665.6  
316722665.8  


	7.5.16 FINAL  Agenda.pdf
	2016-770 - Item No 1
	2016-770 - Item No 1 - Exhibit No 1
	2016-741 - Item No. 2
	2016-741 - Item No. 2 - Exhibit No. 2
	2016-772 - Item No 3
	2016-773 - Item No 4
	070116 - CRA Item No. 4.pdf
	TextFileInSite-01-Jul-2016-08-35-16.pdf
	a4749c87-b4d1-449c-86a0-ff6d9f0f70e3.pdf
	070116 - Reimbursement Agreeement Macerich
	1. General.
	1.1 Recitals.  The Recitals set forth above are true and correct and are deemed incorporated herein by reference.
	1.2 Exclusive Negotiating Agreement and Phasing of Study.  Concurrently herewith the parties have entered into an ENA which has an Initial Term of 120 days to come to agreement on the terms of the MOU, and an Extended Term of 245 days to obtain any ne...
	1.2.1 Initial Term.  The ENA provides that its initial term commences on the Effective Date and terminates one hundred twenty days thereafter (“Initial Term”).  During the Initial Term, the ENA requires the Developer to (i) conduct its due diligence w...
	1.2.2 Extended Term.  If prior to expiration of the Initial Term the Parties agree on an MOU encompassing the points in Section 1.2.1 above, then the ENA provides for extension of the term of the ENA for an additional two hundred forty-five days to ob...
	1.3 Deposits and Reimbursement.  Within ten (10) days of the execution of this Agreement, and on the terms and conditions contained herein, the Developer shall (i) advance $1,000,000 to City, and (ii) commence paying or reimbursing City for fifty perc...
	1.4 Sales Tax Advance.  When and if the MOU is executed, Developer shall advance an additional $1,000,000 to the City (the “Sales Tax Advance Payment”).  The Sales Tax Advance Payment is a prepayment of the City’s portion of a portion of the sales tax...
	1.5 Administration of Accounts.  This Agreement provides for Developer’s payment for two types of Authority expenses, described herein as (i) reimbursement of “Eligible Expenses” from the “Deposit Account,” and (ii) payment or reimbursement of the pro...
	1.6 Effective Date.  The Effective Date is the date when both this Agreement and the ENA have been executed and delivered by the last Party who must execute them to make them effective.
	2. Conflicts of Interest.
	2.1 No Financial Relationship.  Developer acknowledges the requirements of Government Code Sections 1090 et seq. (the “1090 Laws”) and warrants that it has not entered into any financial or transactional relationships or arrangements that would violat...
	2.2 Developer's Representations and Warranties. Developer represents and warrants that for the twelve (12) month period preceding the effective date of this Agreement it has not entered into any arrangement to pay financial consideration to, and has n...
	2.3 Developer's Acknowledgments. Subject to the reimbursement obligations set forth below, Developer acknowledges and agrees as follows with respect to the Project:
	2.3.1 The City has sole discretion to select which of its employees and contractors are assigned to work on the Project.
	2.3.2 The City has sole discretion to direct the work and evaluate the performance of the employees and contractors assigned to work on the Project, and the City retains the right to terminate or replace at any time any such person.
	2.3.3 The City has sole discretion to determine the amount of compensation paid to employees or contractors assigned to work on the Project.
	2.3.4 The City, not Developer, shall pay employees and contractors assigned to work on the application from a City account.


	3. Deposit Account; Eligible Expenses.
	3.1 Third Party Costs Related to Required Additional Approvals.  City will incur costs relating to the review, processing, preparation and approval of any additional, supplemental or modified entitlements required for the Project, including the prepar...
	3.2 Deposit.  Within ten (10) business days following the Effective Date of this Agreement, Developer shall deposit with City One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) (the “Deposit”)  as a good faith deposit to cover the costs of Eligible Expenses (defined be...
	3.3 Eligible Expenses. The Deposit shall be used only to pay for the reasonable and actual third-party out of pocket costs incurred by the City in connection with the following (all of which shall be deemed "Eligible Expenses"):  (i) preparing, negoti...
	3.4 Administration of Deposit. The Deposit may be pooled with other funds of the City or Authority for purposes of investment and safekeeping. The Deposit shall not accrue interest. The City or Authority will administer the Deposit and the City may dr...
	3.5 Unexpended Funds. Upon (i) expiration of the ENA after the Initial Phase, or thereafter, (ii) approval of all necessary entitlements for the Project, the expiration of all applicable appeal periods, and if a legal or administrative challenge is ma...

	4. Authority’s Holding Costs.
	4.1 Holding Costs.  Authority currently incurs certain monthly third party out of pocket costs to maintain the 157 Acre Property, including to maintain the existing Remedial Systems. A schedule of the types of costs of the Authority in connection with...
	4.2 Payment or Reimbursement of Holding Costs for Cell 2. Developer shall pay fifty percent of the Holding Costs actually incurred by Authority with respect to the Cell 2 Site after the Effective Date, until Developer terminates this Agreement or acqu...
	4.3 Reconciling Payment of Holding Costs for the Cell 2 Site. Quarterly, Authority shall provide an accounting of the pro rata share of Holding Costs, and a reconciliation comparing the payment by Developer with the actual costs.  Adjustments will the...

	5. Developer's Rights Concerning Expenses and Review of Documents.
	5.1 Statements of Account. Within twenty (20) days after the end of each calendar month, the City or Authority, as may be applicable, shall provide Developer a detailed accounting of expenditures made from the Deposit Account and with respect to Holdi...
	5.2 City to Expedite Work. In consideration for Developer's agreement to provide the Deposit, City agrees to use its best efforts to expedite the processing of the entitlements. In furtherance thereof, City agrees to use its good faith efforts to caus...
	5.3 Agreement Not Debt or Liability of City or Authority. It is hereby acknowledged and agreed that this Agreement is not a debt or liability of the City or the Authority. The City shall not in any event be liable hereunder other than to return the un...

	6. Indemnification and Hold Harmless.
	6.1 Non-liability of City and Authority Concerning Entitlements. The Parties acknowledge that there may be challenges to the legality, validity and adequacy of the Approvals and/or this Agreement in the future; and if successful, such challenges could...
	6.2 Participation in Litigation: Indemnity. Developer agrees to indemnify, protect, defend, and hold harmless the City, the Authority, and their respective officials, officers, employees, agents, elected boards, commissions, departments, agencies, and...
	6.3 City Right to Abandon.  If Developer fails to timely pay such funds, the City and Authority may abandon the action without liability to Developer and may recover from Developer any attorneys' fees and other costs for which the City or Authority ma...
	6.4 Hold Harmless: Developer's Construction and Other Activities. Developer hereby agrees to, and shall defend, save and hold the City, the Authority, and each of their respective elected and appointed boards, commissions, officers, agents, and employ...
	6.5 Exception. The obligations of Developer under this Section shall not apply to any claims, actions, or proceedings arising through the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the City, the Authority, and their respective members, officers, or emp...
	6.6 Survival of Indemnity Obligations. All indemnity provisions set forth in this Agreement shall survive termination of this Agreement.

	7. Notices.  Any notices, requests, demands, documents, approvals or disapprovals given or sent under this Agreement from one party to another (collectively, the "Notices") shall be given to the party entitled thereto at its address set forth below, o...
	8. Enforcement.
	8.1   California Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by, construed in accordance with, and interpreted under the laws of the State of California. The venue for any litigation regarding this Agreement shall be Los Angeles County, State of California.
	8.2 Legal Action.  In addition to any other rights or remedies, either party may take legal action, in law or in equity, to cure, correct or remedy any default, for any default, to compel specific performance of this Agreement, to obtain declaratory o...
	8.3 Termination.  Upon Developer’s termination, withdrawal from, or abandonment of the Project, which Developer may do at any time, this Agreement and the ENA shall terminate upon written notice by Developer to City and Authority.  A notice of termina...
	8.3.1 Meet and Confer.  No termination shall be effective until 30 days after the parties have at least had an initial meet and confer session as to whether the cause for the termination can be cured, provided that the parties shall meet and confer wi...
	8.3.2 Payment of Eligible Expenses.  Upon such termination of this Agreement or upon completion of the Project, the City shall have the right to withdraw from the advance made under clause (i) of Section 1.3 hereof any amounts for Eligible Expenses th...
	8.3.3 Holding Costs.  Developer shall be liable to pay to Authority any amounts then due for any Holding Costs until thirty (30) days following the termination.
	8.3.4 Indemnity.  The indemnity obligations in Article 6 shall survive per Section 6.6, and after adoption of the development agreement, the $5.6 million guarantee provided therein shall survive.
	8.4 Attorneys' Fees.  In the event that any party shall commence any legal action or proceeding to enforce or interpret this Agreement, the prevailing party in such action or proceeding shall be entitled to recover its costs of suit, including reasona...

	9. Miscellaneous.
	9.1 Right to Assign.  Developer has the right to transfer or assign its obligations under this Agreement to (i) any an entity at least fifty percent owned and effectively controlled by The Macerich Partnership, L.P., without need for consent, or (ii) ...
	9.2 Severability.  If any part of this Agreement is held to be illegal or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of this Agreement shall be given effect to the fullest extent reasonably possible.
	9.3 Interpretation.  In the event of any asserted ambiguity in, or dispute regarding, the interpretation of any matter herein, the interpretation of this Agreement shall not be resolved by any rules of interpretation providing for interpretation again...
	9.4 Amendment.  No amendment to or modification of this Agreement shall be valid unless made in writing and approved by City Council and Developer.  The parties agree that this requirement for written modifications cannot be waived and that any attemp...
	9.5 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original.
	9.6 Authority.  The persons executing this Agreement on behalf of the parties hereto warrant that: (i) such party is duly organized and existing; (ii) they are duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement on behalf of said party; and (iii) th...


	CC Item No. 21-CRA Item No. 24 - Reimbursement Agreeement Macerich 070116.pdf
	1. General.
	1.1 Recitals.  The Recitals set forth above are true and correct and are deemed incorporated herein by reference.
	1.2 Exclusive Negotiating Agreement and Phasing of Study.  Concurrently herewith the parties have entered into an ENA which has an Initial Term of 120 days to come to agreement on the terms of the MOU, and an Extended Term of 245 days to obtain any ne...
	1.2.1 Initial Term.  The ENA provides that its initial term commences on the Effective Date and terminates one hundred twenty days thereafter (“Initial Term”).  During the Initial Term, the ENA requires the Developer to (i) conduct its due diligence w...
	1.2.2 Extended Term.  If prior to expiration of the Initial Term the Parties agree on an MOU encompassing the points in Section 1.2.1 above, then the ENA provides for extension of the term of the ENA for an additional two hundred forty-five days to ob...
	1.3 Deposits and Reimbursement.  Within ten (10) days of the execution of this Agreement, and on the terms and conditions contained herein, the Developer shall (i) advance $1,000,000 to City, and (ii) commence paying or reimbursing City for fifty perc...
	1.4 Sales Tax Advance.  When and if the MOU is executed, Developer shall advance an additional $1,000,000 to the City (the “Sales Tax Advance Payment”).  The Sales Tax Advance Payment is a prepayment of the City’s portion of a portion of the sales tax...
	1.5 Administration of Accounts.  This Agreement provides for Developer’s payment for two types of Authority expenses, described herein as (i) reimbursement of “Eligible Expenses” from the “Deposit Account,” and (ii) payment or reimbursement of the pro...
	1.6 Effective Date.  The Effective Date is the date when both this Agreement and the ENA have been executed and delivered by the last Party who must execute them to make them effective.
	2. Conflicts of Interest.
	2.1 No Financial Relationship.  Developer acknowledges the requirements of Government Code Sections 1090 et seq. (the “1090 Laws”) and warrants that it has not entered into any financial or transactional relationships or arrangements that would violat...
	2.2 Developer's Representations and Warranties. Developer represents and warrants that for the twelve (12) month period preceding the effective date of this Agreement it has not entered into any arrangement to pay financial consideration to, and has n...
	2.3 Developer's Acknowledgments. Subject to the reimbursement obligations set forth below, Developer acknowledges and agrees as follows with respect to the Project:
	2.3.1 The City has sole discretion to select which of its employees and contractors are assigned to work on the Project.
	2.3.2 The City has sole discretion to direct the work and evaluate the performance of the employees and contractors assigned to work on the Project, and the City retains the right to terminate or replace at any time any such person.
	2.3.3 The City has sole discretion to determine the amount of compensation paid to employees or contractors assigned to work on the Project.
	2.3.4 The City, not Developer, shall pay employees and contractors assigned to work on the application from a City account.


	3. Deposit Account; Eligible Expenses.
	3.1 Third Party Costs Related to Required Additional Approvals.  City will incur costs relating to the review, processing, preparation and approval of any additional, supplemental or modified entitlements required for the Project, including the prepar...
	3.2 Deposit.  Within ten (10) business days following the Effective Date of this Agreement, Developer shall deposit with City One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) (the “Deposit”)  as a good faith deposit to cover the costs of Eligible Expenses (defined be...
	3.3 Eligible Expenses. The Deposit shall be used only to pay for the reasonable and actual third-party out of pocket costs incurred by the City in connection with the following (all of which shall be deemed "Eligible Expenses"):  (i) preparing, negoti...
	3.4 Administration of Deposit. The Deposit may be pooled with other funds of the City or Authority for purposes of investment and safekeeping. The Deposit shall not accrue interest. The City or Authority will administer the Deposit and the City may dr...
	3.5 Unexpended Funds. Upon (i) expiration of the ENA after the Initial Phase, or thereafter, (ii) approval of all necessary entitlements for the Project, the expiration of all applicable appeal periods, and if a legal or administrative challenge is ma...

	4. Authority’s Holding Costs.
	4.1 Holding Costs.  Authority currently incurs certain monthly third party out of pocket costs to maintain the 157 Acre Property, including to maintain the existing Remedial Systems. A schedule of the types of costs of the Authority in connection with...
	4.2 Payment or Reimbursement of Holding Costs for Cell 2. Developer shall pay fifty percent of the Holding Costs actually incurred by Authority with respect to the Cell 2 Site after the Effective Date, until Developer terminates this Agreement or acqu...
	4.3 Reconciling Payment of Holding Costs for the Cell 2 Site. Quarterly, Authority shall provide an accounting of the pro rata share of Holding Costs, and a reconciliation comparing the payment by Developer with the actual costs.  Adjustments will the...

	5. Developer's Rights Concerning Expenses and Review of Documents.
	5.1 Statements of Account. Within twenty (20) days after the end of each calendar month, the City or Authority, as may be applicable, shall provide Developer a detailed accounting of expenditures made from the Deposit Account and with respect to Holdi...
	5.2 City to Expedite Work. In consideration for Developer's agreement to provide the Deposit, City agrees to use its best efforts to expedite the processing of the entitlements. In furtherance thereof, City agrees to use its good faith efforts to caus...
	5.3 Agreement Not Debt or Liability of City or Authority. It is hereby acknowledged and agreed that this Agreement is not a debt or liability of the City or the Authority. The City shall not in any event be liable hereunder other than to return the un...

	6. Indemnification and Hold Harmless.
	6.1 Non-liability of City and Authority Concerning Entitlements. The Parties acknowledge that there may be challenges to the legality, validity and adequacy of the Approvals and/or this Agreement in the future; and if successful, such challenges could...
	6.2 Participation in Litigation: Indemnity. Developer agrees to indemnify, protect, defend, and hold harmless the City, the Authority, and their respective officials, officers, employees, agents, elected boards, commissions, departments, agencies, and...
	6.3 City Right to Abandon.  If Developer fails to timely pay such funds, the City and Authority may abandon the action without liability to Developer and may recover from Developer any attorneys' fees and other costs for which the City or Authority ma...
	6.4 Hold Harmless: Developer's Construction and Other Activities. Developer hereby agrees to, and shall defend, save and hold the City, the Authority, and each of their respective elected and appointed boards, commissions, officers, agents, and employ...
	6.5 Exception. The obligations of Developer under this Section shall not apply to any claims, actions, or proceedings arising through the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the City, the Authority, and their respective members, officers, or emp...
	6.6 Survival of Indemnity Obligations. All indemnity provisions set forth in this Agreement shall survive termination of this Agreement.

	7. Notices.  Any notices, requests, demands, documents, approvals or disapprovals given or sent under this Agreement from one party to another (collectively, the "Notices") shall be given to the party entitled thereto at its address set forth below, o...
	8. Enforcement.
	8.1   California Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by, construed in accordance with, and interpreted under the laws of the State of California. The venue for any litigation regarding this Agreement shall be Los Angeles County, State of California.
	8.2 Legal Action.  In addition to any other rights or remedies, either party may take legal action, in law or in equity, to cure, correct or remedy any default, for any default, to compel specific performance of this Agreement, to obtain declaratory o...
	8.3 Termination.  Upon Developer’s termination, withdrawal from, or abandonment of the Project, which Developer may do at any time, this Agreement and the ENA shall terminate upon written notice by Developer to City and Authority.  A notice of termina...
	8.3.1 Meet and Confer.  No termination shall be effective until 30 days after the parties have at least had an initial meet and confer session as to whether the cause for the termination can be cured, provided that the parties shall meet and confer wi...
	8.3.2 Payment of Eligible Expenses.  Upon such termination of this Agreement or upon completion of the Project, the City shall have the right to withdraw from the advance made under clause (i) of Section 1.3 hereof any amounts for Eligible Expenses th...
	8.3.3 Holding Costs.  Developer shall be liable to pay to Authority any amounts then due for any Holding Costs until thirty (30) days following the termination.
	8.3.4 Indemnity.  The indemnity obligations in Article 6 shall survive per Section 6.6, and after adoption of the development agreement, the $5.6 million guarantee provided therein shall survive.
	8.4 Attorneys' Fees.  In the event that any party shall commence any legal action or proceeding to enforce or interpret this Agreement, the prevailing party in such action or proceeding shall be entitled to recover its costs of suit, including reasona...

	9. Miscellaneous.
	9.1 Right to Assign.  Developer has the right to transfer or assign its obligations under this Agreement to (i) any an entity at least fifty percent owned and effectively controlled by The Macerich Partnership, L.P., without need for consent, or (ii) ...
	9.2 Severability.  If any part of this Agreement is held to be illegal or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of this Agreement shall be given effect to the fullest extent reasonably possible.
	9.3 Interpretation.  In the event of any asserted ambiguity in, or dispute regarding, the interpretation of any matter herein, the interpretation of this Agreement shall not be resolved by any rules of interpretation providing for interpretation again...
	9.4 Amendment.  No amendment to or modification of this Agreement shall be valid unless made in writing and approved by City Council and Developer.  The parties agree that this requirement for written modifications cannot be waived and that any attemp...
	9.5 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original.
	9.6 Authority.  The persons executing this Agreement on behalf of the parties hereto warrant that: (i) such party is duly organized and existing; (ii) they are duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement on behalf of said party; and (iii) th...




